# Treatment of Alcohol Use Disorder

Updates, Authorship, and Related Guidelines

Date of current publication Oct

October 2, 2023

Highlights of changes, additions, and updates in the October 2, 2023

edition

General update including trends in the prevalence of alcohol use disorder in the United States, emerging treatment strategies, current evidence for treatment recommendations,

and the importance of harm reduction approach to treatment

Intended users Primary care clinicians and other practitioners in New York State who provide medical care

to adult patients who have alcohol use disorder

Lead author Yonina Mar, MD

Writing group Susan D. Whitley, MD; Timothy J. Wiegand, MD; Sharon L. Stancliff, MD; Charles J. Gonzalez,

MD; Christopher J. Hoffmann, MD, MPH

Author and writing group conflict of interest

disclosures

None

Date of original publication

July 2020

Committee

**Substance Use Guidelines Committee** 

Developer and funder

New York State Department of Health AIDS Institute (NYSDOH AI)

**Development process** 

See Supplement: Guideline Development and Recommendation Ratings

Related NYSDOH AI

guidelines

• Substance Use Harm Reduction in Medical Care

• <u>Substance Use Screening and Risk Assessment in Adults</u>

• <u>Substance Use Disorder Treatment in Pregnant Adults</u>

• Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder



## Treatment of Alcohol Use Disorder

Date of current publication: October 2, 2023

Lead author: Yonina Mar, MD

Writing group: Susan D. Whitley, MD; Timothy J. Wiegand, MD; Sharon L. Stancliff, MD; Charles J. Gonzalez, MD; Christopher

J. Hoffmann, MD, MPH

**Committee:** Substance Use Guidelines Committee

Date of original publication: July 2020

#### Contents

Purpose of This Guideline	2
Treatment Considerations	3
Treatment Goals	
Treatment Selection	4
Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome	5
Follow-Up	
Behavioral Treatment	6
Preferred Pharmacologic Treatment	7
Acamprosate	8
Naltrexone	8
Alternative Pharmacologic Treatment	10
Disulfiram	11
Gabapentin	12
Topiramate	13
All Recommendations	15
References	16
Sunnlement: Guideline Develonment and Recommendation Ratings	24

# Purpose of This Guideline

This guideline on the treatment of alcohol use disorder (AUD) was developed by the New York State Department of Health AIDS Institute (NYSDOH AI) to provide clinical guidance for practitioners who provide medical care for adults in New York State.

This guideline aims to:

- Increase clinicians' awareness of the risks associated with AUD of any severity and the benefits of diagnosing and treating AUD in adults
- Increase clinicians' knowledge of available evidence-based treatments for AUD and withdrawal management and increase the availability of AUD treatment in ambulatory care settings in New York State
- Promote a harm reduction approach to AUD treatment through implementation of practical strategies for reducing the negative consequences associated with alcohol use (see NYSDOH AI guideline <u>Substance Use Harm Reduction in Medical</u> Care)

AUD is a medical condition characterized by an impaired ability to stop or control alcohol use despite adverse social, occupational, or health consequences. AUD, which has been referred to as alcohol abuse, alcohol dependence, alcohol addiction, and alcoholism, encompasses all and can be mild, moderate, or severe based on the number of *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-5* criteria met [NIAAA(a) 2023]. The 2021 National Survey on Drug Use and Health in the United States reported that an estimated 28.6 million individuals aged 18 years or older in the United States had AUD in the past year [SAMHSA 2023]. Among people aged 12 years or older with AUD in the past year, 0.9% received pharmacologic AUD treatment during that period.



A wide range of negative health outcomes are associated with alcohol use in individuals with AUD or unhealthy alcohol use that does not meet the criteria for AUD. These include an increased risk of liver disease, heart disease, depression, stroke, and stomach bleeding; cancers of the oral cavity, esophagus, larynx, pharynx, colon, and rectum; difficulty managing diabetes, high blood pressure, pain, and sleep disorders; increased risk of drowning; and injuries from violence, falls, and motor vehicle crashes [NIAAA(a) 2023; Bagnardi, et al. 2015; Grewal and Viswanathen 2012; Taylor and Rehm 2012; Taylor, et al. 2010; Baan, et al. 2007; Cherpitel 2007; Driscoll, et al. 2004].

In the United States, among individuals aged 16 years and older, the alcohol use-associated death rate increased by 50.9% between 1999 and 2017. In 2017, 2.6% of approximately 2.8 million deaths in the United States were associated with alcohol use, with liver disease and alcohol overdose or overdose with alcohol and other drugs accounting for nearly 50% [White, et al. 2020]. During the COVID-19 pandemic, observed AUD-related mortality rates were higher than projected rates, by 24.79% in 2020 and 21.95% in 2021, with the highest increase in AUD mortality observed in the youngest age group (25 to 44 years) [Yeo, et al. 2022].

Role of primary care clinicians: Primary care clinicians in New York State can play an essential role in identifying and treating unhealthy alcohol use and AUD in their patients. The focus of this guideline is AUD treatment. Despite the prevalence of AUD and associated risks and the availability of effective outpatient treatment, AUD treatment declined from 2008 to 2017 [Larsen, et al. 2022]. Because primary care may lend itself to long-term relationships, this treatment setting is ideal for managing AUD as a chronic health condition.

## **Treatment Considerations**

#### **☑** RECOMMENDATIONS

#### Who to Treat

- Clinicians should recommend and offer pharmacologic treatment to individuals with moderate or severe AUD. (A1) See the guideline section Preferred Pharmacologic Treatment.
- Clinicians should recommend behavioral treatment for individuals with AUD and refer as appropriate. (A1) See the guideline section Behavioral Treatment.

#### **Treatment Goals and Selection**

- Clinicians should inform patients with AUD about all available pharmacologic and behavioral treatment options and all available treatment settings, including outpatient primary care and addiction specialty treatment (intensive outpatient, inpatient, and residential treatments). (A3)
- Clinicians should engage in shared decision-making with patients to set specific treatment goals, including harm reduction. (A3)
- Clinicians and patients should choose a pharmacologic agent based on evidence-based recommendations; patient
  preference; current level of alcohol use [a]; experience of cravings; risk of withdrawal syndrome; available support;
  available formulations; potential adverse effects; dosing schedules (adherence may be increased with once-daily
  dosing); medical or psychiatric comorbidities that may preclude use of a specific agent or require increased monitoring,
  including hepatic or renal dysfunction; depression or anxiety; a concomitant SUD; and concomitant opioid use or
  misuse. (A3)

#### **Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome**

• Before initiating AUD treatment, clinicians should assess the need for withdrawal management. (A3) Mild-to-moderate withdrawal syndrome can be managed in the outpatient setting; severe withdrawal syndrome or other complicating conditions should be referred for inpatient management [b].

#### Follow-Up

• If a patient taking acamprosate or naltrexone for AUD continues or resumes alcohol use, the clinician should continue to prescribe the medication, advise the patient to continue treatment, and discuss possible modifications to treatment goals. (A3)

Abbreviations: AUD, alcohol use disorder; SUD, substance use disorder.

#### Notes:

- a. Disulfiram is contraindicated in individuals who are actively using alcohol. See the guideline section <u>Alternative Pharmacologic</u> Treatment > Disulfiram.
- b. See the American Society of Addiction Medicine (ASAM) Clinical Practice Guideline on Alcohol Withdrawal Management 2020.



A combination of pharmacologic and behavioral treatment is the standard of care for patients with AUD [Ray, et al. 2020; Anton, et al. 2006]. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses have demonstrated that both approaches, alone and in combination, can effectively reduce the frequency and quantity of alcohol use [Bahji, et al. 2022; Ray, et al. 2020; Magill, et al. 2019; DiClemente, et al. 2017; Jonas, et al. 2014; Anton, et al. 2006]. A retrospective cohort study found that pharmacologic treatment for AUD was associated with reduced incidence and progression of alcohol-associated liver disease [Vannier, et al. 2022].

### **Treatment Goals**

As with other chronic conditions, AUD treatment goals should be individualized and are likely to change over time. Clinicians and patients should discuss, agree on, and review AUD treatment goals regularly. If patients are unable to meet treatment goals, intensifying treatment with frequent visits, behavioral interventions, mental health assessment and treatment, and adjustment of dose or type of medication may be warranted.

A traditional goal of AUD treatment is long-term cessation of alcohol use, which may not be achievable for many individuals. Alternative treatment goals can lead to substantial improvements in the health and lives of those with AUD [Witkiewitz, et al. 2021]. The National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism research definition of recovery from AUD is a reflection of the shift to a non-abstinence-based AUD treatment approach:

"Recovery is a process through which an individual pursues both remission from AUD and cessation from heavy drinking. An individual may be considered 'recovered' if both remission from AUD and cessation from heavy drinking are achieved and maintained over time. For those experiencing alcohol-related functional impairment and other adverse consequences, recovery is often marked by the fulfillment of basic needs, enhancements in social support and spirituality, and improvements in physical and mental health, quality of life, and other dimensions of well-being. Continued improvement in these domains may, in turn, promote sustained recovery." [NIAAA(b) 2023]

Harm reduction treatment goals may include the following:

- · Staying engaged in care, which can facilitate prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of other conditions
- · Reducing alcohol use
- Reducing high-risk behaviors (e.g., driving while intoxicated, engaging in condomless sex while drinking, using other substances while drinking, engaging in violent behavior toward intimate partners and others)
- Improving quality of life and other social indicators, such as employment, stable housing, and risk of incarceration
- · Improving mental health

## **Treatment Selection**

Clinicians should inform patients with AUD about all available pharmacologic and behavioral treatment options and all available treatment settings. The choice of treatment(s) is based on shared decision-making that considers individual goals, needs, and preferences; evidence-based treatment recommendations; resources; and other factors.

Pharmacologic treatment: Currently, 3 medications are approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration for the treatment of AUD: acamprosate, naltrexone, and disulfiram. Gabapentin and topiramate are additional evidence-based options for treatment. All of these medications are available in oral formulations, and naltrexone is also available in an extended-release (XR) formulation for intramuscular injection (see guideline sections <a href="Preferred Pharmacologic Treatment">Preferred Pharmacologic Treatment</a> and <a href="Alternative Pharmacologic Treatment">Alternative Pharmacologic Treatment</a>). Recent study results suggest that treatment with hallucinogenic (e.g., psilocybin) and dissociative (e.g., ketamine) agents in conjunction with psychotherapy may decrease the percentage of heavy drinking days and increase days abstinent from alcohol [Bogenschutz, et al. 2022; Calleja-Conde, et al. 2022; Garel, et al. 2022; Grabski, et al. 2022]. More research is needed to confirm the benefits of these treatments for AUD.

Adherence is essential for pharmacologic treatment to be effective, making pill burden an important practical consideration for clinicians. Acamprosate is dosed 3 times daily, with 2 pills required for each dose, oral naltrexone is formulated for single-tablet once-daily dosing, and XR naltrexone is administered every 28 days.

**Behavioral treatment:** Behavioral treatment is typically delivered in a specialty addiction treatment program. The most commonly used and effective AUD interventions include assessment, personalized feedback, motivational interviewing (MI), goal setting, planning and review of homework, problem-solving skills, and relapse prevention and management [Nadkarni, et al. 2023]. For a discussion of MI, contingency management, cognitive behavioral therapy, and other behavioral treatments for AUD, see the guideline section Behavioral Treatment.



# Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome

Before initiating AUD treatment, clinicians should determine if patients are or are at risk of experiencing withdrawal syndrome. If symptoms are present, clinicians should assess withdrawal severity using a validated instrument, such as the Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment for Alcohol, Revised (CIWA-Ar) or the self-completed 10-item Short Alcohol Withdrawal Scale (SAWS), which has been validated in the outpatient setting [Muncie, et al. 2013; Elholm, et al. 2010; Gossop, et al. 2002; Sullivan, et al. 1989].

In individuals with AUD, abruptly ceasing or significantly reducing alcohol use can precipitate acute withdrawal syndrome within 4 to 12 hours of last alcohol use [APA 2017]. The syndrome may persist for as long as 5 days, with symptoms ranging from mild (anxiety, agitation, tremor, and sympathetic nervous system activation) to severe and life-threatening (seizure and delirium tremens) if untreated [APA 2017]. In most individuals, mild-to-moderate alcohol withdrawal syndrome can be managed in the outpatient primary care setting [Muncie, et al. 2013] with benzodiazepines [Schaefer and Hafner 2013; Mayo-Smith 1997]. The Prediction of Alcohol Withdrawal Severity Scale (PAWSS) is a validated screening instrument for predicting the development of severe alcohol withdrawal. A PAWSS score < 4 is considered low risk for complicated alcohol withdrawal syndrome and may help identify individuals that can be treated in the outpatient primary care setting [Wood, et al. 2018; Maldonado, et al. 2015]. For recommendations on treating alcohol withdrawal syndrome, see the American Society of Addiction Medicine (ASAM) Clinical Practice Guideline on Alcohol Withdrawal Management 2020.

Gabapentin effectively treats common symptoms of acute and protracted alcohol withdrawal, including anxiety and sleep disturbances [Mason, et al. 2018; Mason, et al. 2014]. Gabapentin and other anticonvulsants, including carbamazepine and valproic acid, have been studied as alternatives to benzodiazepines for managing alcohol withdrawal syndrome [Fluyau, et al. 2023; Anton, et al. 2020; Barrons and Roberts 2010; Myrick, et al. 2009; Bonnet, et al. 1999]. These medications have less potential for misuse and may be safer, particularly if mixed with alcohol. Ideally, individuals treated for alcohol withdrawal syndrome in the outpatient setting are assessed daily until their withdrawal symptoms decrease, and the medication dosage is reduced and eventually discontinued. To increase the likelihood of success in the outpatient setting, patients should be able to take oral medications, be committed to frequent follow-up visits, or have a relative, friend, or caregiver who can stay with them and administer medication [Blondell 2005].

Patients who experience severe alcohol withdrawal symptoms should be referred to a detoxification or inpatient setting for intensive management [Myrick and Anton 1998] (see <u>PAWSS</u> for assessing the level of severity). Referral for intensive management of alcohol withdrawal may be appropriate for patients who have:

- · A history of long-term heavy alcohol use
- Acute or chronic comorbidities, including serious or unstable medical or psychiatric comorbidities that require a high level
  of monitoring (e.g., severe coronary artery disease, hepatic or renal impairment, dementia, or risk for delirium)
- A history of withdrawal seizures or high risk of delirium tremens
- A concurrent SUD or use of other drugs, particularly benzodiazepines and opioids

See the <u>American Society of Addiction Medicine (ASAM) Alcohol Withdrawal Management Guideline</u> for detailed recommendations regarding levels of care.

## Follow-Up

Frequent follow-up visits allow clinicians to provide support and encouragement and monitor treatment response, adverse effects, medication adherence, and signs of continued alcohol use or return to use. Follow-up within 2 weeks of treatment initiation allows tailoring of the treatment plan to individual needs (e.g., change in dose of pharmacologic treatment, addition of support services). As patients stabilize on treatment, monthly or at least quarterly follow-up allows for ongoing evaluation to ensure that treatment goals are being met.



## **Behavioral Treatment**

#### **☑** RECOMMENDATION

#### **Behavioral Treatment**

Clinicians should recommend behavioral treatment for patients with alcohol use disorder (AUD) and refer as
appropriate. (A1) The type of treatment is based on the individual patient's experience and preference, social factors,
treatment availability, and insurance, among other factors.

Many studies support the effectiveness of motivational interviewing (MI), motivational enhancement therapy (MET), and cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) for treating individuals with AUD [Miller 2018; DiClemente, et al. 2017; Lenz, et al. 2016; Lundahl, et al. 2013; Smedslund, et al. 2011; Lundahl, et al. 2010; Magill and Ray 2009], including studies conducted in the primary care setting [VanBuskirk and Wetherell 2014; Lundahl, et al. 2013; Stecker, et al. 2012]. A systematic review and meta-analysis found that combining evidence-based behavioral intervention and pharmacologic treatment was associated with better AUD treatment outcomes than clinical management or nonspecific counseling services [Ray, et al. 2020].

MI, MET, CBT, and other approaches have been incorporated into many interventions for AUD treatment. Variables in studies of behavioral interventions for alcohol use make it difficult to compare and interpret the evidence and extrapolate it to "real-world" settings and individual patients. These variables include the type of approach, duration and number of sessions, type and training of the clinician delivering the intervention, treatment setting, mode of delivery (in-person or computerized), individual or group intervention, risk level of alcohol use or AUD, and concurrent pharmacologic treatment. Most clinical trials examining pharmacologic treatment include a psychological component (e.g., MI or CBT for all treatment groups).

MI is a way of helping patients recognize their current or potential problems and act toward resolving them, and it can be helpful for clinicians to understand and use an MI-informed approach when discussing alcohol use and AUD treatment plans with patients. The overall goal of MI is to increase the individual's intrinsic motivation to facilitate change, and the method is particularly useful for those who are ambivalent about changing behavior or who are reluctant to change [Miller and Rollnick 2002]. This technique emphasizes patients' autonomy while providing a safe space for collaboration and consistent engagement to enhance motivation for change. The MI approach also helps clinicians assess the patients' readiness to change behavior and use that level as a starting point for counseling or treatment.

#### **Box 1: Key Principles of Motivational Interviewing**

- · Express empathy and practice reflective listening.
- Avoid arguing and confrontation.
- Develop the discrepancy between a patient's goals or values and their current behavior.
- Adjust to the patient's resistance rather than opposing it directly.
- Support optimism and self-efficacy (patient's belief they can successfully make a change).

MET, adapted from MI principles, is a manual-based intervention designed to help patients explore ambivalence about alcohol use and develop intrinsic motivation to reduce or abstain from alcohol use [Lenz, et al. 2016]. CBT, individually or in groups, focuses on how thoughts, feelings, and behaviors influence each other and can be particularly useful for helping patients recognize and manage individual triggers for alcohol use. For CBT in an online format, see <a href="Computer Based Training">Computer Based Training</a> for Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT4CBT).

Other behavioral approaches include mindfulness and contingency management (CM). A mindfulness approach seeks to help individuals with SUDs, including AUD, monitor for and relate differently to internal and environmental cues that trigger substance use [Bowen, et al. 2014]. Mindfulness-based relapse prevention programs have been associated with significant improvements in some alcohol-related outcomes compared with other psychosocial interventions, but data are limited [Grant, et al. 2017; Bowen, et al. 2014]. CM aims to improve SUD treatment outcomes, such as engagement in care or abstinence, by providing patient incentives. In studies, contingency management has been associated with significant improvements in alcohol-related outcomes, but providing a CM intervention in a real-world medical setting has been difficult [Getty, et al. 2019; Barnett, et al. 2017; McDonell, et al. 2017; Benishek, et al. 2014; Dougherty, et al. 2014; Prendergast, et al. 2006].



To date, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration has approved a prescription CBT app for use as an adjunct treatment for alcohol and other substance use disorders [Maricich, et al. 2022; FDA(a) 2017], but availability is uncertain. This mobile system includes a patient app and a clinician dashboard and is intended to be used in conjunction with outpatient therapy and a CM system. Mobile apps (SoberDiary) and low-cost breathalyzer devices can be purchased by individuals, and studies have shown combining mobile apps with remote breathalyzers that provide CM is an effective strategy for reducing alcohol use [Oluwoye, et al. 2020; Koffarnus, et al. 2018; You, et al. 2017; Alessi and Petry 2013]. As a new format for treatment, app-based CM has some promising results but has not yet been widely adopted into real-world settings.

Mutual-support programs: Self-Management and Recovery Training (SMART Recovery) focuses on self-empowerment and provides mutual support through in-person group meetings and online formats. The program uses rational emotive behavior therapy, a form of CBT, to facilitate changes in thinking and thus in emotions and behaviors [Horvath and Yeterian 2012]. Some studies have shown positive alcohol-related treatment outcomes, but the data are inconsistent [Beck, et al. 2017]. Some patients may benefit from Alcoholics Anonymous (AA), a 12-step mutual-support group approach based on fellowship and the role of a higher power. A recent systematic review identified high-quality evidence that AA and 12-step facilitation interventions were at least as effective in increasing abstinence and improving alcohol-related outcomes as clinical psychological interventions (e.g., MET, CBT, other 12-step program variants) [Kelly, et al. 2020]. Mutual-support groups can complement pharmacologic and other treatment modalities.

♦ RESOURCES		
Motivational Interviewing	Medical Management Treatment Manual	Mutual-Support Programs
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration:     TIP 35: Enhancing Motivation for Change in Substance Use     Disorder Treatment: Updated 2019     Case Western Reserve     University: MI Reminder Card (Am I Doing This Right?)	A Clinical Research Guide for Medically     Trained Clinicians Providing     Pharmacotherapy as Part of the Treatment     for Alcohol Dependence: Designed to be     used in the COMBINE study in conjunction     with prescribed medication, incorporates     psychosocial techniques, and provides     education and tools for clinicians and     patients to support abstinence and promote     medication adherence	Self-Management and Recovery Training (SMART Recovery)     Moderation Management     Alcoholics Anonymous     New York State Alcoholics Anonymous Meeting Schedule Portal

# Preferred Pharmacologic Treatment

#### **☑** RECOMMENDATIONS

#### **Preferred Pharmacologic Treatment**

• Clinicians should recommend oral acamprosate or oral or injectable XR naltrexone as the preferred medication for AUD treatment. (A1) See Table 1: Preferred Pharmacologic Treatment of Alcohol Use Disorder in Nonpregnant Adults.

#### **Acamprosate**

- For the best treatment response, clinicians should initiate treatment with acamprosate as soon as patients have abstained from alcohol use and within 7 days. (A3)
- Clinicians should perform serum CrCl testing before initiating treatment with acamprosate (A3); if CrCl is between 30 and 50 mL/min or eGFR is between 30 and 59 mL/min/1.73 m², clinicians should adjust the dose according to the prescribing information or choose another medication. (A2)
- Contraindications: CrCl <30 mL/min or eGFR <30 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>

#### **Oral or Injectable Long-Acting Extended-Release Naltrexone**

- Because active alcohol use is not a contraindication to naltrexone therapy, clinicians should initiate naltrexone even if patients continue to use alcohol. (A1)
- Before initiating treatment with injectable XR naltrexone, clinicians should prescribe an oral trial of naltrexone (50 mg once daily for at least 3 days) to ensure that patients tolerate the medication. (A3)



#### ☑ RECOMMENDATIONS

- · Clinicians should recommend XR naltrexone if adherence to an oral regimen is a concern. (B3)
- **Contraindications:** Concomitant use of opioid analgesics or opioid agonists (e.g., methadone or buprenorphine), current physiologic opioid dependence, acute opioid withdrawal, reaction to a naloxone challenge test, or a positive urine test result for opioids
- For a patient with AUD who recently used opioids, the clinician should administer a naloxone challenge and confirm that the patient does not react, to ensure that opioids have been cleared from the system (see NYSDOH AI guideline Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder > Naltrexone). (A2)

Abbreviations: AUD, alcohol use disorder; CrCl, creatinine clearance; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; XR, extended-release.

Based on strong clinical evidence, acamprosate and oral or XR naltrexone are the preferred pharmacologic treatments for individuals with moderate or severe AUD who have a goal of reducing or abstaining from alcohol use [SAMHSA 2015; Jonas, et al. 2014]. In individuals with mild AUD, clinicians may consider pharmacologic treatment with oral acamprosate or oral or XR naltrexone. Clinical trials directly comparing acamprosate and naltrexone and meta-analyses have not consistently established the superiority of one medication over the other in reducing heavy drinking [Jonas, et al. 2014; Mann, et al. 2013; Anton, et al. 2006; Morley, et al. 2006; Kiefer, et al. 2003]. There is minimal and mixed evidence on whether combining naltrexone and acamprosate has an additive effect on alcohol consumption outcomes [Anton, et al. 2006; Kiefer, et al. 2003].

## Acamprosate

**Efficacy:** Alcohol withdrawal produces a neurobiologic derangement in gamma-aminobutyric acid type A (GABA<sub>A</sub>), N-methyl-D-aspartic acid (NMDA), and glutamate transmission. Acamprosate modulates transmission from GABA<sub>A</sub> and NMDA receptors, which can restore neuronal balance and mitigate the associated symptoms [Kalk and Lingford-Hughes 2014].

In clinical trials comparing acamprosate treatment with placebo, acamprosate increased the proportion of individuals who maintained complete abstinence from alcohol (complete abstinence rate), the mean cumulative abstinence duration, the percentage of alcohol-free days, and the median time to first drink [Higuchi 2015; Plosker 2015; Gual and Lehert 2001; Tempesta, et al. 2000; Geerlings, et al. 1997; Pelc, et al. 1997; Poldrugo 1997; Sass, et al. 1996; Whitworth, et al. 1996; Paille, et al. 1995]. A meta-analysis from 2014 found that acamprosate was significantly associated with a decreased return to any drinking and with a decreased percentage of drinking days throughout treatment [Jonas, et al. 2014].

Who to treat: Acamprosate can be initiated if the individual is still actively using alcohol, but the efficacy of treatment during active alcohol use is unknown. Clinicians should initiate treatment with acamprosate as soon as the individual has abstained from alcohol use (within 7 days) for the best treatment response. Assessment of motivation will help identify candidates for acamprosate, which has been found to be most effective in patients with high levels of motivation [Jonas, et al. 2014]. Motivational interviewing (MI) may be used to enhance motivation.

Because acamprosate is excreted through the kidneys, clinicians should measure CrCl before starting treatment. Dose reduction may be necessary for patients with CrCl between 30 and 50 mL/min or eGFR between 30 and 59 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>. Acamprosate may be a good option for patients with AUD who have significant hepatic dysfunction because it is not metabolized through the liver and has no reported risk of hepatotoxicity.

**Initial and maintenance dosage:** Oral acamprosate is typically started and continued as 3 doses daily, two 333 mg tablets for each dose for a total of 1,998 mg daily (see Table 1, below). Acamprosate may be maintained if the individual continues or returns to alcohol use.

**Adverse events:** Acamprosate is generally well tolerated; the most frequently reported adverse effect in clinical trials was diarrhea [Sinclair, et al. 2016; Chick, et al. 2000; Lhuintre, et al. 1985]. If diarrhea is severe, a temporary dose reduction may be beneficial.

## **Naltrexone**

**Efficacy:** Naltrexone is an opioid receptor antagonist used in the treatment of individuals with AUD or opioid use disorder (OUD). Alcohol use increases the activity of the endogenous opioid system. As an opioid receptor antagonist, naltrexone interferes with the rewarding aspects of alcohol [Ray, et al. 2010; Pettinati, et al. 2006; Mason, et al. 2002]. Naltrexone may also decrease subjective cravings for alcohol [Maisel, et al. 2013].



Clinical trials have shown that naltrexone improves alcohol use outcomes and, specifically, decreases the likelihood of return to drinking and the overall number of drinking days [Jonas, et al. 2014]. A meta-analysis of studies evaluating treatment with oral naltrexone showed that oral naltrexone 50 mg daily was associated with decreased return to any drinking and decreased return to heavy drinking, and XR naltrexone was associated with reduced heavy drinking days [Jonas, et al. 2014]. An ongoing randomized controlled trial by Lee, et al., is examining the effectiveness of oral versus XR naltrexone in producing abstinence or moderate drinking [Malone, et al. 2019]. Studies have shown that naltrexone more effectively reduces alcohol consumption in individuals who use nicotine or cigarettes than those who do not [Anton, et al. 2018; Fucito, et al. 2012], which may be one factor in selecting pharmacologic treatment.

**Who to treat:** Active alcohol use is not a contraindication to initiating or maintaining treatment with naltrexone (oral and XR formulations). For some patients, reduced alcohol use rather than abstinence may be a treatment goal. If alcohol use is significantly reduced abruptly, individuals should be monitored for alcohol withdrawal syndrome.

Naltrexone is a preferred AUD treatment option in patients with aspartate aminotransferase/alanine aminotransferase levels within 3 to 5 times the upper limit of normal [Kwo, et al. 2017; Turncliff, et al. 2005], but it should be prescribed with caution in patients with abnormal liver function [FDA 2022; FDA 2013]. With follow-up liver tests and symptom monitoring, naltrexone has been used safely and effectively in people with liver disease, including compensated cirrhosis [Ayyala, et al. 2022]. In patients with abnormal liver function, baseline assessment of liver function should be performed before treatment initiation, and the extent of liver abnormalities may guide continued testing or referral to an experienced liver specialist. Clinicians can consider performing follow-up liver function tests 4 to 12 weeks after initiating naltrexone treatment [Lucey, et al. 2008].

Individuals with AUD should be abstinent from opioids for approximately 7 to 14 days before initiating XR naltrexone, which is also a U.S. Food and Drug Administration-approved treatment for opioid use disorder (see NYSDOH AI guideline <u>Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder > Naltrexone</u>). Clinicians should confirm the length of time since last opioid use by performing a naloxone challenge. Administer intranasal naloxone as available (e.g., 4 mg/0.1 mL) and observe the reaction. In individuals with recent opioid use, this may precipitate opioid withdrawal. If a patient is already taking oral naltrexone, a naloxone challenge is not necessary.

Oral naltrexone: The recommended induction and maintenance doses of oral naltrexone is 50 mg daily. However, a dose of 100 mg daily was used and well tolerated in the large COMBINE trial [Anton, et al. 2018], so a dose increase may be considered. Some clinicians advise patients to initiate naltrexone with a dose of 25 mg on day 1 and increase the dose to 50 mg on day 2. In clinical studies, high adherence to oral naltrexone, defined as pills taken on more than 80% to 90% of days, was necessary to achieve significant treatment effects [Srisurapanont and Jarusuraisin 2005; Chick, et al. 2000]. Because of oral naltrexone's short half-life, the timing of the daily dose should be considered. Advise patients taking oral naltrexone to monitor alcohol cravings and medication effectiveness throughout the day and adjust the timing of the naltrexone dose accordingly. For example, if a patient tends to experience cravings or use alcohol at night, taking naltrexone in the evening may be more effective than in the morning. Assessing and supporting a patient's ability to adhere to oral naltrexone before starting treatment (e.g., via MI) is essential. Engaging family members or others to assist with adherence to oral naltrexone can be helpful. XR naltrexone may improve adherence compared with oral naltrexone [Hartung, et al. 2014].

**Injectable XR naltrexone:** Before initiating treatment with injectable XR naltrexone, clinicians should prescribe an oral trial of naltrexone (50 mg once daily for at least 3 days) to ensure patients tolerate the medication. XR naltrexone is administered as a 380 mg intramuscular gluteal injection every 28 days (alternating buttocks for each subsequent injection). When an XR naltrexone injection is delayed beyond 28 days, clinicians can provide patients with a prescription for daily oral naltrexone (50 mg daily) to take until they can receive the injection.

Adverse events: Oral and XR naltrexone are generally well tolerated. The more common adverse events include gastrointestinal symptoms (e.g., nausea, vomiting, abdominal pain, diarrhea) and dizziness [FDA 2022; FDA 2013]. Gastrointestinal adverse events associated with naltrexone may be more common among women than men [Herbeck, et al. 2016]. If an individual experiences adverse events with oral naltrexone, clinicians can consider a reduced dose of 25 mg [Anton 2008]. XR naltrexone can cause pain or hardening of soft tissue at the injection site. The potential for bleeding at the injection site in individuals who have coagulopathy or are taking anticoagulants should be considered. Sufficient adipose tissue is required for injection, which may be difficult in an individual with cachexia.



Table 1: Preferred Pharmacologic Treatment of Alcohol Use Disorder in Nonpregnant Adults [a]		
Medication [b]	Dosage	Considerations
Acamprosate oral (Campral)	Initial and maintenance: 666 mg 3 times per day	<ul> <li>Initiate treatment as soon as patients have abstained from alcohol use and within 7 days.</li> <li>Counsel patients about the importance of adherence.</li> <li>Perform serum CrCl testing before initiating treatment; adjust dose if CrCl is between 30 and 50 mL/min or eGFR is between 30 and 59 mL/min/1.73 m².</li> <li>Contraindications: CrCl &lt;30 mL/min or eGFR &lt;30 mL/min/1.73 m²; see package insert for dose adjustments based on CrCl.</li> </ul>
Naltrexone oral ( <u>Revia</u> )	<ul> <li>Initial and maintenance: 50 mg once daily</li> <li>If adverse effects occur, clinicians can consider a reduced dose of 25 mg once daily.</li> <li>100 mg daily has been used and well tolerated in studies.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Abstinence from alcohol is not required for initiating and maintaining treatment.</li> <li>Recommend the injectable formulation for patients who have problems with adherence to the oral regimen.</li> <li>Abstinence from opioids is required for treatment. For patients who use alcohol and opioids, see recommendations in NYSDOH Al guideline Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder &gt; Naltrexone.</li> </ul>
XR Naltrexone, long- acting injectable (Vivitrol)	Initial: 50 mg oral naltrexone once daily for at least 3 days  Maintenance: 380 mg intragluteal injection every 28 days	<ul> <li>Prescribe with caution in patients with abnormal liver function 3 to 5 times the upper limit of normal [FDA 2022; FDA 2013]. The extent of liver abnormalities on baseline testing may guide continued testing or referral to an experienced liver specialist.</li> <li>Contraindications: Concomitant use of opioid analgesics or opioid agonists (e.g., methadone or buprenorphine), current physiologic opioid dependence, acute opioid withdrawal, reaction to a naloxone challenge test, or a positive urine test result for opioids</li> </ul>

**Abbreviations:** AUD, alcohol use disorder; CrCl, creatinine clearance; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; XR, extended-release. **Notes:** 

- a. For treatment of pregnant individuals with AUD, see NYSDOH AI guideline <u>Substance Use Disorder Treatment in Pregnant Adults ></u> Alcohol Use and Alcohol Use <u>Disorder Treatment During Pregnancy</u>.
- b. Consult package insert for full prescribing information for each medication.

# Alternative Pharmacologic Treatment

#### **☑** RECOMMENDATIONS

#### **Alternative Pharmacologic Treatment**

• For individuals with AUD who have not responded to or are intolerant of naltrexone or acamprosate, or who prefer a different medication, clinicians should discuss and offer disulfiram, gabapentin, or topiramate. (A3) See <a href="Table 2: Alternative Pharmacologic Treatment">Table 2: Alternative Pharmacologic Treatment of Alcohol Use Disorder in Nonpregnant Adults</a>.

#### Disulfiram

- Clinicians should emphasize the importance of avoiding alcohol consumption in all forms to patients before initiating and when taking disulfiram. (A3)
- Clinicians should perform liver function testing, including AST/ALT levels before initiating disulfiram. In patients with AST/ALT levels >3 to 5 times the upper limit of normal, avoid treatment with disulfiram. (A3)



#### ☑ RECOMMENDATIONS

• **Contraindications:** Recent or concomitant use of metronidazole, alcohol, or alcohol-containing preparations (e.g., cough syrups, tonics). Disulfiram is contraindicated in the presence of severe myocardial disease or coronary occlusion and psychoses.

#### **Gabapentin or Topiramate**

• If gabapentin or topiramate is the agent of choice, clinicians should not require abstinence before initiation, because active alcohol use is not a contraindication to either medication. (A3)

Abbreviations: AUD, alcohol use disorder; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase.

For individuals with AUD who have not responded to or are intolerant of naltrexone or acamprosate, or who prefer a different medication, alternative treatment options include disulfiram, gabapentin, and topiramate (see Table 2, below). Of the 3 medications, only disulfiram is approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for AUD treatment. Other alternative treatments for AUD, including baclofen and varenicline, have been investigated, but the evidence of their efficacy is mixed [Agabio, et al. 2023; Bahji, et al. 2022; Fischler, et al. 2022]. Further studies are needed to confirm the benefits of these treatments for AUD.

## Disulfiram

**Efficacy:** Concomitant use of alcohol and disulfiram can produce a severe physiologic response (the disulfiram-ethanol reaction) that may result in low blood pressure, tachycardia, facial flushing, nausea, vomiting, dyspnea, sweating, dizziness, blurred vision, and confusion [Bell and Smith 1949]. The psychological threat of the unpleasant physiologic effects is believed to be the primary mechanism for dissuading alcohol use in individuals with AUD [Skinner, et al. 2014].

Evidence is mixed on the effectiveness of disulfiram for the treatment of AUD. Well-controlled clinical trials do not support an association between disulfiram use and reduction in alcohol consumption [Jonas, et al. 2014]. However, it may be difficult to evaluate disulfiram in a double-blind study design because the threat of the physiologic effects of combining alcohol and disulfiram, which is present for both treatment and control groups, is directly related to the efficacy of the drug [Skinner, et al. 2014]. A meta-analysis showed that disulfiram effectively improved consumption outcomes in open-label trials (no blinding for participants or researchers) but not in blinded randomized controlled trials [Skinner, et al. 2014].

Since the 1970s, studies examining the effectiveness of disulfiram have typically compared unsupervised administration of disulfiram with administration supervised by health professionals or by suitable delegated associates of the participant. Results suggest that disulfiram can be an effective treatment with supervised administration, but adherence is low with unsupervised administration [Brewer, et al. 2017; Skinner, et al. 2014; Jørgensen, et al. 2011; Fuller, et al. 1986].

Who to treat: Disulfiram is an alternative treatment option for individuals who have a clear goal of alcohol abstinence and are able to abstain for at least 12 hours before initiating treatment. Clinicians should advise patients that adverse effects may occur with alcohol consumption for up to 14 days after taking disulfiram.

Before initiating treatment with disulfiram, clinicians should perform baseline liver function testing, including AST/ALT tests, and consider disulfiram as an option only if AST/ALT levels are within 3 to 5 times the upper limit of normal [Kwo, et al. 2017]. Disulfiram has been associated with mild increases in hepatic enzymes in approximately 25% of individuals taking the medication [Björnsson, et al. 2006]. Acute and potentially fatal hepatotoxicity is very rare (1 per 10,000 to 30,000 years of disulfiram treatment) [Björnsson, et al. 2006]. It may be useful for clinicians to obtain follow-up liver test results within 1 month of initiating treatment. The extent of liver abnormalities should guide continued testing or referral to a liver specialist. In addition, disulfiram is not considered safe in individuals with serious medical comorbidities (e.g., cardiovascular disease) or serious mental illnesses (e.g., psychotic disorders) [FDA 2015].

**Induction and maintenance dosage:** The initial dose of disulfiram is 250 mg to 500 mg once daily for 1 to 2 weeks [FDA 2015]. After the initiation phase, the recommended maintenance dose of disulfiram is 125 mg to 500 mg once daily based on response and tolerability. Typically, the maintenance dose is 250 mg once daily; the maximum dose is 500 mg once daily (see Table 2, below).

Disulfiram does not reduce an individual's alcohol cravings. Motivation and consistent adherence are required for disulfiram to be an effective deterrent to alcohol use. In clinical trials, individuals who chose disulfiram as their preferred treatment and were highly adherent or were receiving disulfiram under supervision achieved the greatest success [Johnson 2008; Laaksonen, et al. 2008; O'Farrell, et al. 1995; Chick, et al. 1992].



#### Box 2: Patient Education Points on Disulfiram

- Any consumption of alcohol while taking disulfiram can result in flushing, throbbing in the head and neck, respiratory difficulty, nausea, copious vomiting, sweating, thirst, chest pain, palpitations, dyspnea, hyperventilation, tachycardia, hypotension, syncope, marked uneasiness, weakness, vertigo, blurred vision, and confusion.
- Alcohol may be found in cough and cold medicines, mouthwashes, tonics, sauces, vinegar, and other food or skin products.
- · Adverse reactions to alcohol ingestion may occur for up to 14 days after disulfiram is discontinued.
- In case of a severe adverse reaction, carry a wallet card or wear a medication bracelet advising emergency responders of disulfiram use.

**Adverse events:** Consuming alcohol while taking disulfiram can result in the adverse reactions described above. Because disulfiram is contraindicated in individuals with severe myocardial disease or coronary occlusion, it may be appropriate to assess cardiac function before starting treatment with disulfiram. Disulfiram is not recommended for patients with seizure disorders or a history of psychosis. Caution should be taken in prescribing disulfiram to patients who have a family history of psychosis [FDA 2015].

# Gabapentin

Efficacy: Gabapentin's mechanism of action in treating AUD is not fully understood, but evidence suggests that it modulates and stabilizes central stress systems dysregulated by alcohol use cessation [Roberto, et al. 2010; Roberto, et al. 2008]. Although gabapentin is not approved by the FDA for AUD treatment, its use has been associated with reductions in alcohol consumption and craving [Mason, et al. 2018; Mason, et al. 2014]. As an adjunct to benzodiazepines, gabapentin is effective in treating common symptoms of acute and protracted alcohol withdrawal, including anxiety and sleep disturbances [Mason, et al. 2018; Rosenberg, et al. 2014; Lavigne, et al. 2012; Myrick, et al. 2009; Brower, et al. 2008; Bazil, et al. 2005; Karam-Hage and Brower 2000]. Gabapentin may be used to prevent alcohol withdrawal when indicated, e.g., for a hospitalized patient being treated for a condition not related to alcohol withdrawal [Maldonado 2017].

#### **Box 3: Gabapentin Misuse**

- Gabapentin can induce a sense of euphoria [Mersfelder and Nichols 2016; Smith, et al. 2016] when taken in
  combination with other substances, especially opioids, benzodiazepines, or alcohol, and there is the potential for
  misuse.
- Individuals may take gabapentin for recreational purposes, to control mood or anxiety, to intensify the effects of substances, or for intentional self-harm.
- Gabapentin has been increasingly associated with opioid-related overdose deaths, and caution is required when prescribing gabapentin for individuals with comorbid AUD and OUD [Kuehn 2022; Mattson, et al. 2022].
- If there is a strong concern about gabapentin misuse or diversion, clinicians may want to schedule more frequent follow-up visits and medication counts [Mersfelder and Nichols 2016; Smith, et al. 2016].

Who to treat: At doses of up to 1,800 mg daily, gabapentin is safe and well tolerated in individuals with AUD [Mason, et al. 2018; Mason, et al. 2014]. No adverse effects have been reported with concomitant use of gabapentin and alcohol, so alcohol abstinence is not required for gabapentin initiation [Myrick, et al. 2007]. Gabapentin is excreted through the kidneys; clinicians may consider testing for serum creatinine levels, particularly when administering high doses of gabapentin. Dose reduction may be necessary for patients with reduced renal function. Because gabapentin is not metabolized through the liver and has no reported risk of hepatotoxicity, it may be a good option for individuals with AUD who have significant hepatic dysfunction.

**Induction and maintenance dosage:** The initial dose of gabapentin is 300 mg once daily, with increases in increments of 300 mg every 1 to 2 days based on improvement in symptoms and tolerability. The maintenance dose is individualized and generally divided into 3 doses per day. Based on studies of gabapentin for the treatment of other conditions (e.g., epilepsy, postherpetic neuralgia), up to 2,400 mg or 3,600 mg per day, divided into 3 doses, can be considered for maintenance [FDA(b) 2017].



**Adverse effects:** Common adverse effects include headache, insomnia, fatigue, muscle aches, and gastrointestinal complaints. In clinical trials, these effects were mild or moderate, did not result in drug discontinuation, and were not significantly different from adverse effects reported with placebo treatment [Mason, et al. 2018].

## **Topiramate**

**Efficacy:** Topiramate's mechanism of action in treating AUD is not fully understood, but evidence suggests that it enhances GABAergic neurotransmission and suppresses glutamatergic neurotransmission, helping to normalize and restore balance in the reward circuits of the brain [Cheng, et al. 2018; Frye, et al. 2016; Shank and Maryanoff 2008].

Like gabapentin, topiramate is not approved by the FDA for AUD treatment, but it has been associated with fewer drinking days, fewer drinks per drinking day, a decreased percentage of heavy drinking days, and an increased number of abstinent days [Manhapra, et al. 2019]. To a lesser degree, topiramate has been associated with reduced cravings for alcohol [Manhapra, et al. 2019]. The effectiveness of topiramate for AUD does not appear to be substantially affected by preinitiation alcohol abstinence or detoxification [Maisel, et al. 2013].

**Who to treat:** Clinicians can offer topiramate as an alternative therapy to patients with moderate or severe AUD (*Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-5* criteria) who have a goal of reducing alcohol use or achieving abstinence. Abstinence from alcohol is not a requirement for initiating or maintaining treatment.

**Induction and maintenance dosage:** The initial dose of topiramate is 25 mg once daily, with increases in increments of 50 mg once every 7 days. The maintenance dose ranges from 200 mg to 400 mg daily, divided into 2 doses [Knapp, et al. 2015; Kranzler, et al. 2014; Johnson, et al. 2003]. In patients with moderate-to-severe renal impairment, a 50% dose reduction is advised [Guerrini and Parmeggiani 2006; Perucca 1997].

Adverse effects: Adverse effects that occurred in more than 10% of study subjects include paresthesia [Swietach, et al. 2003; Spitzer, et al. 2002; Fujii, et al. 1993] and cognitive impairment [Gomer, et al. 2007]. These effects were mostly observed in the dose titration phase and often resolved with continued treatment. Rare adverse effects include increased rate of renal calculi (2- to 4-fold) [Welch, et al. 2006], oligohidrosis [Ma, et al. 2007; Cerminara, et al. 2006], acute visual disturbances, and myopia and acute angle-closure glaucoma [Shank and Maryanoff 2008].

Table 2: Alternative Pharmacologic Treatment of Alcohol Use Disorder in Nonpregnant Adults [a]		
Medication [b]	Dosage	Considerations
Disulfiram oral (multiple brands)	Initial and maintenance: 500 mg once daily for 1 to 2 weeks. Reduce to 250 mg once daily.	<ul> <li>Abstinence from alcohol before initiating and while taking disulfiram is required.</li> <li>Advise patients to initiate disulfiram only after 12 hours of abstinence.</li> <li>Inform patients of the disulfiram-ethanol reaction [c].</li> <li>Reinforce complete abstinence from any form of alcohol.</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Perform baseline liver testing before initiating disulfiram treatment; in patients with AST/ALT levels &gt;3 to 5 times the upper limit of normal, avoid treatment with disulfiram.</li> <li>Contraindications: Recent or concomitant use of metronidazole, alcohol, or alcohol-containing preparations (e.g., cough syrups, tonics). Disulfiram is contraindicated in the presence of severe myocardial disease or coronary occlusion and psychoses.</li> </ul>
Gabapentin oral (multiple brands)	Initial: 300 mg once daily Titrate: Increase in increments of 300 mg. Maintenance: Up to 3,600 mg daily, divided into 3 doses; dose is based on response and tolerance.	<ul> <li>Abstinence from alcohol is not required for initiating or maintaining treatment.</li> <li>Caution: Gabapentin may be misused alone for psychoactive effect or combined with opioids, benzodiazepines, alcohol, or other substances to intensify intoxication.</li> </ul>



Table 2: Alternative Pharmacologic Treatment of Alcohol Use Disorder in Nonpregnant Adults [a]		
Medication [b]	Dosage	Considerations
Topiramate oral (multiple brands)	Initial: 25 mg once daily  Titrate: Increase dose by 50 mg increments each week to a maximum of 400 mg daily administered in 2 divided doses.  Maintenance: 200 to 400 mg daily divided into 2 doses	<ul> <li>Abstinence from alcohol is not required for initiating or maintaining treatment.</li> <li>A dose reduction by half is recommended for adult patients with CrCl ≤70 mL/min or eGFR ≤70 mL/min/1.73 m². See package insert for full prescribing information.</li> </ul>

**Abbreviations:** ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; AUD, alcohol use disorder; CrCl, creatinine clearance; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate.

#### Notes:

- a. For treatment of pregnant individuals with AUD, see NYSDOH Al guideline <u>Substance Use Disorder Treatment in Pregnant Adults > Alcohol Use and Alcohol Use Disorder Treatment During Pregnancy</u>.
- b. Consult package insert for full prescribing information for each medication.
- c. Concomitant use of disulfiram and alcohol, even small amounts, can result in the following adverse effects: flushing, throbbing in the head and neck, respiratory difficulty, nausea, copious vomiting, sweating, thirst, chest pain, palpitations, dyspnea, hyperventilation, tachycardia, hypotension, syncope, marked uneasiness, weakness, vertigo, blurred vision, and confusion. Severe reactions may result in respiratory depression, cardiovascular collapse, arrhythmias, myocardial infarction, acute congestive heart failure, unconsciousness, convulsions, and death.



## All Recommendations

#### ☑ ALL RECOMMENDATIONS: TREATMENT OF ALCOHOL USE DISORDER

#### Who to Treat

- Clinicians should recommend and offer pharmacologic treatment to individuals with moderate or severe AUD. (A1) See the guideline section Preferred Pharmacologic Treatment.
- Clinicians should recommend behavioral treatment for individuals with AUD and refer as appropriate. (A1) See the guideline section <a href="Behavioral Treatment">Behavioral Treatment</a>.

#### **Treatment Goals and Selection**

- Clinicians should inform patients with AUD about all available pharmacologic and behavioral treatment options and all available treatment settings, including outpatient primary care and addiction specialty treatment (intensive outpatient, inpatient, and residential treatments). (A3)
- Clinicians should engage in shared decision-making with patients to set specific treatment goals, including harm reduction. (A3)
- Clinicians and patients should choose a pharmacologic agent based on evidence-based recommendations; patient
  preference; current level of alcohol use [a]; experience of cravings; risk of withdrawal syndrome; available support;
  available formulations; potential adverse effects; dosing schedules (adherence may be increased with once-daily
  dosing); medical or psychiatric comorbidities that may preclude use of a specific agent or require increased monitoring,
  including hepatic or renal dysfunction; depression or anxiety; a concomitant SUD; and concomitant opioid use or
  misuse. (A3)

#### **Alcohol Withdrawal Syndrome**

• Before initiating AUD treatment, clinicians should assess the need for withdrawal management. (A3) Mild-to-moderate withdrawal syndrome can be managed in the outpatient setting; severe withdrawal syndrome or other complicating conditions should be referred for inpatient management [b].

#### Follow-Up

• If a patient taking acamprosate or naltrexone for AUD continues or resumes alcohol use, the clinician should continue to prescribe the medication, advise the patient to continue treatment, and discuss possible modifications to treatment goals. (A3)

#### **Behavioral Treatment**

• Clinicians should recommend behavioral treatment for patients with AUD and refer as appropriate. (A1) The type of treatment is based on the individual patient's experience and preference, social factors, treatment availability, and insurance, among other factors.

#### **Preferred Pharmacologic Treatment**

• Clinicians should recommend oral acamprosate or oral or injectable XR naltrexone as the preferred medication for AUD treatment. (A1) See Table 1: Preferred Pharmacologic Treatment of Alcohol Use Disorder in Nonpregnant Adults.

#### **Acamprosate**

- For the best treatment response, clinicians should initiate treatment with acamprosate as soon as patients have abstained from alcohol use and within 7 days. (A3)
- Clinicians should perform serum CrCl testing before initiating treatment with acamprosate (A3); if CrCl is between 30 and 50 mL/min or eGFR is between 30 and 59 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>, clinicians should adjust the dose according to the prescribing information or choose another medication. (A2)
- Contraindications: CrCl <30 mL/min or eGFR <30 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>

#### **Oral or Injectable Long-Acting Extended-Release Naltrexone**

- Because active alcohol use is not a contraindication to naltrexone therapy, clinicians should initiate naltrexone even if patients continue to use alcohol. (A1)
- Before initiating treatment with injectable XR naltrexone, clinicians should prescribe an oral trial of naltrexone (50 mg once daily for at least 3 days) to ensure that patients tolerate the medication. (A3)
- Clinicians should recommend XR naltrexone if adherence to an oral regimen is a concern. (B3)



#### ☑ ALL RECOMMENDATIONS: TREATMENT OF ALCOHOL USE DISORDER

- **Contraindications:** Concomitant use of opioid analgesics or opioid agonists (e.g., methadone or buprenorphine), current physiologic opioid dependence, acute opioid withdrawal, reaction to a naloxone challenge test, or a positive urine test result for opioids
- For a patient with AUD who recently used opioids, the clinician should administer a naloxone challenge and confirm that the patient does not react, to ensure that opioids have been cleared from the system (see NYSDOH AI guideline <a href="Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder">Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder</a> Naltrexone). (A2)

#### **Alternative Pharmacologic Treatment**

• For individuals with AUD who have not responded to or are intolerant of naltrexone or acamprosate, or who prefer a different medication, clinicians should discuss and offer disulfiram, gabapentin, or topiramate. (A3) See <a href="Table 2">Table 2</a>: Alternative Pharmacologic Treatment of Alcohol Use Disorder in Nonpregnant Adults.

#### Disulfiram

- Clinicians should emphasize the importance of avoiding alcohol consumption in all forms to patients before initiating and when taking disulfiram. (A3)
- Clinicians should perform liver function testing, including AST/ALT levels before initiating disulfiram. In patients with AST/ALT levels >3 to 5 times the upper limit of normal, avoid treatment with disulfiram. (A3)
- **Contraindications:** Recent or concomitant use of metronidazole, alcohol, or alcohol-containing preparations (e.g., cough syrups, tonics). Disulfiram is contraindicated in the presence of severe myocardial disease or coronary occlusion and psychoses.

#### **Gabapentin or Topiramate**

• If gabapentin or topiramate is the agent of choice, clinicians should not require abstinence before initiation, because active alcohol use is not a contraindication to either medication. (A3)

**Abbreviations:** AUD, alcohol use disorder; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; CrCl, creatinine clearance; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; SUD, substance use disorder; XR, extended-release.

#### Notes

- a. Disulfiram is contraindicated in individuals who are actively using alcohol. See the guideline section <u>Alternative Pharmacologic Treatment > Disulfiram</u>.
- b. See the American Society of Addiction Medicine (ASAM) Clinical Practice Guideline on Alcohol Withdrawal Management 2020.

## References

Agabio R, Saulle R, Rösner S, et al. Baclofen for alcohol use disorder. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2023;1(1):CD012557. [PMID: 36637087] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36637087">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36637087</a>

Alessi SM, Petry NM. A randomized study of cellphone technology to reinforce alcohol abstinence in the natural environment. *Addiction* 2013;108(5):900-909. [PMID: 23279560] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23279560">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23279560</a>

Anton RF. Naltrexone for the management of alcohol dependence. *N Engl J Med* 2008;359(7):715-21. [PMID: 18703474] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18703474">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18703474</a>

Anton RF, Latham P, Voronin K, et al. Efficacy of gabapentin for the treatment of alcohol use disorder in patients with alcohol withdrawal symptoms: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Intern Med* 2020;180(5):728-36. [PMID: 32150232] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32150232

Anton RF, Latham PK, Voronin KE, et al. Nicotine-use/smoking is associated with the efficacy of naltrexone in the treatment of alcohol dependence. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2018;42(4):751-60. [PMID: 29431852] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29431852

Anton RF, O'Malley SS, Ciraulo DA, et al. Combined pharmacotherapies and behavioral interventions for alcohol dependence: the COMBINE study: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 2006;295(17):2003-17. [PMID: 16670409] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16670409">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16670409</a>

APA. Practice guideline for the pharmacological treatment of patients with alcohol use disorder. 2017 Nov. <a href="https://psychiatryonline.org/doi/pdf/10.1176/appi.books.9781615371969">https://psychiatryonline.org/doi/pdf/10.1176/appi.books.9781615371969</a> [accessed 2020 May 6]



- Ayyala D, Bottyan T, Tien C, et al. Naltrexone for alcohol use disorder: hepatic safety in patients with and without liver disease. *Hepatol Commun* 2022;6(12):3433-42. [PMID: 36281979] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36281979
- Baan R, Straif K, Grosse Y, et al. Carcinogenicity of alcoholic beverages. *Lancet Oncol* 2007;8(4):292-93. [PMID: 17431955] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17431955
- Bagnardi V, Rota M, Botteri E, et al. Alcohol consumption and site-specific cancer risk: a comprehensive dose-response meta-analysis. *Br J Cancer* 2015;112(3):580-93. [PMID: 25422909] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25422909">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25422909</a>
- Bahji A, Bach P, Danilewitz M, et al. Pharmacotherapies for adults with alcohol use disorders: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *J Addict Med* 2022;16(6):630-38. [PMID: 35653782] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35653782
- Barnett NP, Celio MA, Tidey JW, et al. A preliminary randomized controlled trial of contingency management for alcohol use reduction using a transdermal alcohol sensor. *Addiction* 2017;112(6):1025-35. [PMID: 28107772] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28107772
- Barrons R, Roberts N. The role of carbamazepine and oxcarbazepine in alcohol withdrawal syndrome. *J Clin Pharm Ther* 2010;35(2):153-67. [PMID: 20456734] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20456734
- Bazil CW, Battista J, Basner RC. Gabapentin improves sleep in the presence of alcohol. *J Clin Sleep Med* 2005;1(3):284-87. [PMID: 17566190] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17566190
- Beck AK, Forbes E, Baker AL, et al. Systematic review of SMART Recovery: outcomes, process variables, and implications for research. *Psychol Addict Behav* 2017;31(1):1-20. [PMID: 28165272] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28165272">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28165272</a>
- Bell RG, Smith HW. Preliminary report on clinical trials of antabuse. *Can Med Assoc J* 1949;60(3):286-88. [PMID: 18110807] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18110807">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18110807</a>
- Benishek LA, Dugosh KL, Kirby KC, et al. Prize-based contingency management for the treatment of substance abusers: a meta-analysis. *Addiction* 2014;109(9):1426-36. [PMID: 24750232] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24750232">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24750232</a>
- Björnsson E, Nordlinder H, Olsson R. Clinical characteristics and prognostic markers in disulfiram-induced liver injury. *J Hepatol* 2006;44(4):791-97. [PMID: 16487618] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16487618">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16487618</a>
- Blondell RD. Ambulatory detoxification of patients with alcohol dependence. *Am Fam Physician* 2005;71(3):495-502. [PMID: 15712624] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15712624
- Bogenschutz MP, Ross S, Bhatt S, et al. Percentage of heavy drinking days following psilocybin-assisted psychotherapy vs placebo in the treatment of adult patients with alcohol use disorder: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry* 2022;79(10):953-62. [PMID: 36001306] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36001306">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36001306</a>
- Bonnet U, Banger M, Leweke FM, et al. Treatment of alcohol withdrawal syndrome with gabapentin. *Pharmacopsychiatry* 1999;32(3):107-9. [PMID: 10463378] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10463378">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10463378</a>
- Bowen S, Witkiewitz K, Clifasefi SL, et al. Relative efficacy of mindfulness-based relapse prevention, standard relapse prevention, and treatment as usual for substance use disorders: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry* 2014;71(5):547-56. [PMID: 24647726] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24647726">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24647726</a>
- Brewer C, Streel E, Skinner M. Supervised disulfiram's superior effectiveness in alcoholism treatment: ethical, methodological, and psychological aspects. *Alcohol Alcohol* 2017;52(2):213-19. [PMID: 28064151] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28064151">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28064151</a>
- Brower KJ, Myra Kim H, Strobbe S, et al. A randomized double-blind pilot trial of gabapentin versus placebo to treat alcohol dependence and comorbid insomnia. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2008;32(8):1429-38. [PMID: 18540923] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18540923">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18540923</a>
- Calleja-Conde J, Morales-García JA, Echeverry-Alzate V, et al. Classic psychedelics and alcohol use disorders: a systematic review of human and animal studies. *Addict Biol* 2022;27(6):e13229. [PMID: 36301215] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36301215">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36301215</a>
- Cerminara C, Seri S, Bombardieri R, et al. Hypohidrosis during topiramate treatment: a rare and reversible side effect. *Pediatr Neurol* 2006;34(5):392-94. [PMID: 16648001] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16648001">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16648001</a>
- Cheng H, Kellar D, Lake A, et al. Effects of alcohol cues on MRS glutamate levels in the anterior cingulate. *Alcohol Alcohol* 2018;53(3):209-15. [PMID: 29329417] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29329417
- Cherpitel CJ. Alcohol and injuries: a review of international emergency room studies since 1995. *Drug Alcohol Rev* 2007;26(2):201-14. [PMID: 17364856] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17364856">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17364856</a>
- Chick J, Anton R, Checinski K, et al. A multicentre, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of naltrexone in the treatment of alcohol dependence or abuse. *Alcohol Alcohol* 2000;35(6):587-93. [PMID: 11093966] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11093966
- Chick J, Gough K, Falkowski W, et al. Disulfiram treatment of alcoholism. *Br J Psychiatry* 1992;161:84-89. [PMID: 1638335] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/1638335">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/1638335</a>



- DiClemente CC, Corno CM, Graydon MM, et al. Motivational interviewing, enhancement, and brief interventions over the last decade: a review of reviews of efficacy and effectiveness. *Psychol Addict Behav* 2017;31(8):862-87. [PMID: 29199843] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29199843">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29199843</a>
- Dougherty DM, Hill-Kapturczak N, Liang Y, et al. Use of continuous transdermal alcohol monitoring during a contingency management procedure to reduce excessive alcohol use. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2014;142:301-6. [PMID: 25064019] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25064019">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25064019</a>
- Driscoll TR, Harrison JA, Steenkamp M. Review of the role of alcohol in drowning associated with recreational aquatic activity. Inj Prev 2004;10(2):107-13. [PMID: 15066977] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15066977
- Elholm B, Larsen K, Hornnes N, et al. A psychometric validation of the Short Alcohol Withdrawal Scale (SAWS). *Alcohol Alcohol* 2010;45(4):361-65. [PMID: 20570824] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20570824">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20570824</a>
- FDA. Revia (naltrexone hydrochloride tablets USP). 2013 Oct. https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/label/2013/018932s017lbl.pdf [accessed 2023 Jul 18]
- FDA. Antabuse (disulfiram tablets USP). 2015 Sep. <a href="https://dailymed.nlm.nih.gov/dailymed/drugInfo.cfm?setid=f0ca0e1f-9641-48d5-9367-e5d1069e8680">https://dailymed.nlm.nih.gov/dailymed/drugInfo.cfm?setid=f0ca0e1f-9641-48d5-9367-e5d1069e8680</a> [accessed 2023 Jul 18]
- FDA. Vivitrol (naltrexone for extended-release injectable suspension), for intramuscular use. 2022 Sep. <a href="https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda">https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda</a> docs/label/2022/021897s057lbl.pdf [accessed 2023 Jul 24]
- FDA(a). FDA permits marketing of mobile medical application for substance use disorder. 2017 Sep 14. <a href="https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-permits-marketing-mobile-medical-application-substance-use-disorder">https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-permits-marketing-mobile-medical-application-substance-use-disorder</a> [accessed 2023 Jul 18]
- FDA(b). Neurontin (gabapentin) capsules, for oral use; tablets, for oral use; oral suspension. 2017 Oct.

  <a href="https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda">https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda</a> docs/label/2017/020235s064 020882s047 021129s046lbl.pdf [accessed 2023 Jul 18]
- Fischler PV, Soyka M, Seifritz E, et al. Off-label and investigational drugs in the treatment of alcohol use disorder: a critical review. *Front Pharmacol* 2022;13:927703. [PMID: 36263121] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36263121
- Fluyau D, Kailasam VK, Pierre CG. Beyond benzodiazepines: a meta-analysis and narrative synthesis of the efficacy and safety of alternative options for alcohol withdrawal syndrome management. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 2023;79(9):1147-57. [PMID: 37380897] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37380897">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37380897</a>
- Frye MA, Hinton DJ, Karpyak VM, et al. Anterior cingulate glutamate is reduced by acamprosate treatment in patients with alcohol dependence. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* 2016;36(6):669-74. [PMID: 27755217] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27755217">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27755217</a>
- Fucito LM, Park A, Gulliver SB, et al. Cigarette smoking predicts differential benefit from naltrexone for alcohol dependence. *Biol Psychiatry* 2012;72(10):832-38. [PMID: 22541040] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22541040
- Fujii H, Nakamura K, Takeo K, et al. Heterogeneity of carbonic anhydrase and 68 kDa neurofilament in nerve roots analyzed by two-dimensional electrophoresis. *Electrophoresis* 1993;14(10):1074-78. [PMID: 8125058] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8125058">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8125058</a>
- Fuller RK, Branchey L, Brightwell DR, et al. Disulfiram treatment of alcoholism. A Veterans Administration cooperative study. JAMA 1986;256(11):1449-55. [PMID: 3528541] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/3528541
- Garel N, McAnulty C, Greenway KT, et al. Efficacy of ketamine intervention to decrease alcohol use, cravings, and withdrawal symptoms in adults with problematic alcohol use or alcohol use disorder: a systematic review and comprehensive analysis of mechanism of actions. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2022;239:109606. [PMID: 36087563] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36087563">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36087563</a>
- Geerlings PJ, Ansoms C, van den Brink W. Acamprosate and prevention of relapse in alcoholics. *Eur Addiction Res* 1997;3(3):129-37. https://doi.org/10.1159/000259166
- Getty CA, Morande A, Lynskey M, et al. Mobile telephone-delivered contingency management interventions promoting behaviour change in individuals with substance use disorders: a meta-analysis. *Addiction* 2019;114(11):1915-25. [PMID: 31265747] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31265747">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31265747</a>
- Gomer B, Wagner K, Frings L, et al. The influence of antiepileptic drugs on cognition: a comparison of levetiracetam with topiramate. *Epilepsy Behav* 2007;10(3):486-94. [PMID: 17409025] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17409025">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17409025</a>
- Gossop M, Keaney F, Stewart D, et al. A Short Alcohol Withdrawal Scale (SAWS): development and psychometric properties. Addict Biol 2002;7(1):37-43. [PMID: 11900621] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11900621
- Grabski M, McAndrew A, Lawn W, et al. Adjunctive ketamine with relapse prevention-based psychological therapy in the treatment of alcohol use disorder. *Am J Psychiatry* 2022;179(2):152-62. [PMID: 35012326] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35012326



- Grant S, Colaiaco B, Motala A, et al. Mindfulness-based relapse prevention for substance use disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Addict Med* 2017;11(5):386-96. [PMID: 28727663] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28727663
- Grewal P, Viswanathen VA. Liver cancer and alcohol. *Clin Liver Dis* 2012;16(4):839-50. [PMID: 23101985] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23101985
- Gual A, Lehert P. Acamprosate during and after acute alcohol withdrawal: a double-blind placebo-controlled study in Spain. *Alcohol Alcohol* 2001;36(5):413-18. [PMID: 11524307] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11524307
- Guerrini R, Parmeggiani L. Topiramate and its clinical applications in epilepsy. *Expert Opin Pharmacother* 2006;7(6):811-23. [PMID: 16556095] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16556095
- Hartung DM, McCarty D, Fu R, et al. Extended-release naltrexone for alcohol and opioid dependence: a meta-analysis of healthcare utilization studies. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2014;47(2):113-21. [PMID: 24854219] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24854219
- Herbeck DM, Jeter KE, Cousins SJ, et al. Gender differences in treatment and clinical characteristics among patients receiving extended release naltrexone. *J Addict Dis* 2016;35(4):305-14. [PMID: 27192330] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27192330">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27192330</a>
- Higuchi S. Efficacy of acamprosate for the treatment of alcohol dependence long after recovery from withdrawal syndrome: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study conducted in Japan (Sunrise Study). *J Clin Psychiatry* 2015;76(2):181-88. [PMID: 25742205] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25742205
- Horvath AT, Yeterian J. SMART recovery: self-empowering, science-based addiction recovery support. *J Groups Addiction Recovery* 2012;7(2-4):102-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/1556035X.2012.705651
- Johnson BA. Update on neuropharmacological treatments for alcoholism: scientific basis and clinical findings. *Biochem Pharmacol* 2008;75(1):34-56. [PMID: 17880925] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17880925">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17880925</a>
- Johnson BA, Ait-Daoud N, Bowden CL, et al. Oral topiramate for treatment of alcohol dependence: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2003;361(9370):1677-85. [PMID: 12767733] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12767733">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12767733</a>
- Jonas DE, Amick HR, Feltner C, et al. Pharmacotherapy for adults with alcohol use disorders in outpatient settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA* 2014;311(18):1889-1900. [PMID: 24825644] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24825644">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24825644</a>
- Jørgensen CH, Pedersen B, Tønnesen H. The efficacy of disulfiram for the treatment of alcohol use disorder. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2011;35(10):1749-58. [PMID: 21615426] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21615426
- Kalk NJ, Lingford-Hughes AR. The clinical pharmacology of acamprosate. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 2014;77(2):315-23. [PMID: 23278595] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23278595
- Karam-Hage M, Brower KJ. Gabapentin treatment for insomnia associated with alcohol dependence. *Am J Psychiatry* 2000;157(1):151. [PMID: 10618048] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10618048
- Kelly JF, Humphreys K, Ferri M. Alcoholics Anonymous and other 12-step programs for alcohol use disorder. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2020;3(3):CD012880. [PMID: 32159228] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32159228">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32159228</a>
- Kiefer F, Jahn H, Tarnaske T, et al. Comparing and combining naltrexone and acamprosate in relapse prevention of alcoholism: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 2003;60(1):92-99. [PMID: 12511176] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12511176">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12511176</a>
- Knapp CM, Ciraulo DA, Sarid-Segal O, et al. Zonisamide, topiramate, and levetiracetam: efficacy and neuropsychological effects in alcohol use disorders. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* 2015;35(1):34-42. [PMID: 25427171] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25427171
- Koffarnus MN, Bickel WK, Kablinger AS. Remote alcohol monitoring to facilitate incentive-based treatment for alcohol use disorder: a randomized trial. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2018;42(12):2423-31. [PMID: 30335205] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30335205">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30335205</a>
- Kranzler HR, Covault J, Feinn R, et al. Topiramate treatment for heavy drinkers: moderation by a GRIK1 polymorphism. *Am J Psychiatry* 2014;171(4):445-52. [PMID: 24525690] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24525690">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24525690</a>
- Kuehn BM. Growing role of gabapentin in opioid-related overdoses highlights misuse potential and off-label prescribing practices. *JAMA* 2022;328(13):1283-85. [PMID: 36069924] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36069924
- Kwo PY, Cohen SM, Lim JK. ACG clinical guideline: evaluation of abnormal liver chemistries. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2017;112(1):18-35. [PMID: 27995906] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27995906">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27995906</a>
- Laaksonen E, Koski-Jännes A, Salaspuro M, et al. A randomized, multicentre, open-label, comparative trial of disulfiram, naltrexone and acamprosate in the treatment of alcohol dependence. *Alcohol Alcohol* 2008;43(1):53-61. [PMID: 17965444] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17965444">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17965444</a>



- Larsen AR, Cummings JR, von Esenwein SA, et al. Trends in alcohol use disorder treatment utilization and setting from 2008 to 2017. *Psychiatr Serv* 2022;73(9):991-98. [PMID: 35193376] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35193376
- Lavigne JE, Heckler C, Mathews JL, et al. A randomized, controlled, double-blinded clinical trial of gabapentin 300 versus 900 mg versus placebo for anxiety symptoms in breast cancer survivors. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 2012;136(2):479-86. [PMID: 23053645] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23053645
- Lenz AS, Rosenbaum L, Sheperis D. Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials of motivational enhancement therapy for reducing substance use. *J Addiction Offender Couns* 2016;37(2):66-86. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaoc.12017
- Lhuintre JP, Daoust M, Moore ND, et al. Ability of calcium bis acetyl homotaurine, a GABA agonist, to prevent relapse in weaned alcoholics. *Lancet* 1985;1(8436):1014-16. [PMID: 2859465] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/2859465
- Lucey MR, Silverman BL, Illeperuma A, et al. Hepatic safety of once-monthly injectable extended-release naltrexone administered to actively drinking alcoholics. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2008;32(3):498-504. [PMID: 18241321] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18241321">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18241321</a>
- Lundahl B, Kunz C, Brownell C, et al. A meta-analysis of motivational interviewing: twenty-five years of empirical studies. *Res Soc Work Pract* 2010;20(2):137-60. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731509347850">https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731509347850</a>
- Lundahl B, Moleni T, Burke BL, et al. Motivational interviewing in medical care settings: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Patient Educ Couns* 2013;93(2):157-68. [PMID: 24001658] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24001658">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24001658</a>
- Ma L, Huang YG, Deng YC, et al. Topiramate reduced sweat secretion and aquaporin-5 expression in sweat glands of mice. *Life Sci* 2007;80(26):2461-68. [PMID: 17521680] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17521680
- Magill M, Ray L, Kiluk B, et al. A meta-analysis of cognitive-behavioral therapy for alcohol or other drug use disorders: treatment efficacy by contrast condition. *J Consult Clin Psychol* 2019;87(12):1093-1105. [PMID: 31599606] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31599606
- Magill M, Ray LA. Cognitive-behavioral treatment with adult alcohol and illicit drug users: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs* 2009;70(4):516-27. [PMID: 19515291] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19515291
- Maisel NC, Blodgett JC, Wilbourne PL, et al. Meta-analysis of naltrexone and acamprosate for treating alcohol use disorders: when are these medications most helpful? *Addiction* 2013;108(2):275-93. [PMID: 23075288] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23075288">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23075288</a>
- Maldonado JR. Novel algorithms for the prophylaxis and management of alcohol withdrawal syndromes-beyond benzodiazepines. *Crit Care Clin* 2017;33(3):559-99. [PMID: 28601135] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28601135
- Maldonado JR, Sher Y, Das S, et al. Prospective validation study of the Prediction of Alcohol Withdrawal Severity Scale (PAWSS) in medically ill inpatients: a new scale for the prediction of complicated alcohol withdrawal syndrome. *Alcohol Alcohol* 2015;50(5):509-18. [PMID: 25999438] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25999438
- Malone M, McDonald R, Vittitow A, et al. Extended-release vs. oral naltrexone for alcohol dependence treatment in primary care (XON). *Contemp Clin Trials* 2019;81:102-9. [PMID: 30986535] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30986535">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30986535</a>
- Manhapra A, Chakraborty A, Arias AJ. Topiramate pharmacotherapy for alcohol use disorder and other addictions: a narrative review. *J Addict Med* 2019;13(1):7-22. [PMID: 30096077] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30096077
- Mann K, Lemenager T, Hoffmann S, et al. Results of a double-blind, placebo-controlled pharmacotherapy trial in alcoholism conducted in Germany and comparison with the US COMBINE study. *Addict Biol* 2013;18(6):937-46. [PMID: 23231446] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23231446">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23231446</a>
- Maricich YA, Nunes EV, Campbell ANC, et al. Safety and efficacy of a digital therapeutic for substance use disorder: secondary analysis of data from a NIDA clinical trials network study. *Subst Abus* 2022;43(1):937-42. [PMID: 35420979] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35420979">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35420979</a>
- Mason BJ, Goodman AM, Dixon RM, et al. A pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic drug interaction study of acamprosate and naltrexone. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2002;27(4):596-606. [PMID: 12377396] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12377396">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12377396</a>
- Mason BJ, Quello S, Goodell V, et al. Gabapentin treatment for alcohol dependence: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Intern Med* 2014;174(1):70-77. [PMID: 24190578] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24190578
- Mason BJ, Quello S, Shadan F. Gabapentin for the treatment of alcohol use disorder. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs* 2018;27(1):113-24. [PMID: 29241365] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29241365">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29241365</a>
- Mattson CL, Chowdhury F, Gilson TP. Notes from the field: trends in gabapentin detection and involvement in drug overdose deaths 23 states and the District of Columbia, 2019-2020. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 2022;71(19):664-666. [PMID: 35552367] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35552367



- Mayo-Smith MF. Pharmacological management of alcohol withdrawal. A meta-analysis and evidence-based practice guideline. American Society of Addiction Medicine Working Group on Pharmacological Management of Alcohol Withdrawal. *JAMA* 1997;278(2):144-51. [PMID: 9214531] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9214531
- McDonell MG, Leickly E, McPherson S, et al. A randomized controlled trial of ethyl glucuronide-based contingency management for outpatients with co-occurring alcohol use disorders and serious mental illness. *Am J Psychiatry* 2017;174(4):370-77. [PMID: 28135843] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28135843">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28135843</a>
- Mersfelder TL, Nichols WH. Gabapentin: abuse, dependence, and withdrawal. *Ann Pharmacother* 2016;50(3):229-33. [PMID: 26721643] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26721643">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26721643</a>
- Miller S. The ASAM principles of addiction medicine. 2018. <a href="https://shop.lww.com/The-ASAM-Principles-of-Addiction-Medicine/p/9781496370983">https://shop.lww.com/The-ASAM-Principles-of-Addiction-Medicine/p/9781496370983</a>
- Miller W, Rollnick S. Motivational interviewing, preparing people to change addictive behavior. 2002. https://www.google.com/books/edition/Motivational Interviewing Second Edition/p7TpwAEACAAJ
- Morley KC, Teesson M, Reid SC, et al. Naltrexone versus acamprosate in the treatment of alcohol dependence: a multi-centre, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Addiction* 2006;101(10):1451-62. [PMID: 16968347] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16968347
- Muncie HL, Jr., Yasinian Y, Oge L. Outpatient management of alcohol withdrawal syndrome. *Am Fam Physician* 2013;88(9):589-95. [PMID: 24364635] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24364635
- Myrick H, Anton R, Voronin K, et al. A double-blind evaluation of gabapentin on alcohol effects and drinking in a clinical laboratory paradigm. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2007;31(2):221-27. [PMID: 17250613] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17250613">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17250613</a>
- Myrick H, Anton RF. Treatment of alcohol withdrawal. *Alcohol Health Res World* 1998;22(1):38-43. [PMID: 15706731] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15706731">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15706731</a>
- Myrick H, Malcolm R, Randall PK, et al. A double-blind trial of gabapentin versus lorazepam in the treatment of alcohol withdrawal. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2009;33(9):1582-88. [PMID: 19485969] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19485969
- Nadkarni A, Massazza A, Guda R, et al. Common strategies in empirically supported psychological interventions for alcohol use disorders: a meta-review. *Drug Alcohol Rev* 2023;42(1):94-104. [PMID: 36134481] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36134481">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36134481</a>
- NIAAA(a). Alcohol's effects on health: research-based information on drinking and its impact. 2023

  <a href="https://www.niaaa.nih.gov/alcohols-effects-health/alcohol-topics/alcohol-facts-and-statistics/alcohol-and-human-body">https://www.niaaa.nih.gov/alcohols-effects-health/alcohol-topics/alcohol-facts-and-statistics/alcohol-and-human-body</a>
  [accessed 2023 May 18]
- NIAAA(b). NIAAA recovery research definitions. 2023 <a href="https://www.niaaa.nih.gov/research/niaaa-recovery-from-alcohol-use-disorder/definitions">https://www.niaaa.nih.gov/research/niaaa-recovery-from-alcohol-use-disorder/definitions</a> [accessed 2023 Sep 19]
- O'Farrell TJ, Allen JP, Litten RZ. Disulfiram (antabuse) contracts in treatment of alcoholism. *NIDA Res Monogr* 1995;150:65-91. [PMID: 8742773] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8742773">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8742773</a>
- Oluwoye O, Reneau H, Herron J, et al. Pilot study of an integrated smartphone and breathalyzer contingency management intervention for alcohol use. *J Addict Med* 2020;14(3):193-98. [PMID: 31567597] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31567597">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31567597</a>
- Paille FM, Guelfi JD, Perkins AC, et al. Double-blind randomized multicentre trial of acamprosate in maintaining abstinence from alcohol. *Alcohol Alcohol* 1995;30(2):239-47. [PMID: 7662044] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/7662044
- Pelc I, Verbanck P, Le Bon O, et al. Efficacy and safety of acamprosate in the treatment of detoxified alcohol-dependent patients. A 90-day placebo-controlled dose-finding study. *Br J Psychiatry* 1997;171:73-77. [PMID: 9328500] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9328500">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9328500</a>
- Perucca E. A pharmacological and clinical review on topiramate, a new antiepileptic drug. *Pharmacol Res* 1997;35(4):241-56. [PMID: 9264038] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9264038">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9264038</a>
- Pettinati HM, O'Brien CP, Rabinowitz AR, et al. The status of naltrexone in the treatment of alcohol dependence: specific effects on heavy drinking. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* 2006;26(6):610-25. [PMID: 17110818] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17110818
- Plosker GL. Acamprosate: a review of its use in alcohol dependence. *Drugs* 2015;75(11):1255-68. [PMID: 26084940] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26084940">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26084940</a>
- Poldrugo F. Acamprosate treatment in a long-term community-based alcohol rehabilitation programme. *Addiction* 1997;92(11):1537-46. [PMID: 9519495] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9519495">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9519495</a>
- Prendergast M, Podus D, Finney J, et al. Contingency management for treatment of substance use disorders: a meta-analysis. Addiction 2006;101(11):1546-60. [PMID: 17034434] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17034434



- Ray LA, Chin PF, Miotto K. Naltrexone for the treatment of alcoholism: clinical findings, mechanisms of action, and pharmacogenetics. *CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets* 2010;9(1):13-22. [PMID: 20201811] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20201811
- Ray LA, Meredith LR, Kiluk BD, et al. Combined pharmacotherapy and cognitive behavioral therapy for adults with alcohol or substance use disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Netw Open* 2020;3(6):e208279. [PMID: 32558914] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32558914">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32558914</a>
- Roberto M, Cruz MT, Gilpin NW, et al. Corticotropin releasing factor-induced amygdala gamma-aminobutyric acid release plays a key role in alcohol dependence. *Biol Psychiatry* 2010;67(9):831-39. [PMID: 20060104] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20060104
- Roberto M, Gilpin NW, O'Dell LE, et al. Cellular and behavioral interactions of gabapentin with alcohol dependence. *J Neurosci* 2008;28(22):5762-71. [PMID: 18509038] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18509038">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18509038</a>
- Rosenberg RP, Hull SG, Lankford DA, et al. A randomized, double-blind, single-dose, placebo-controlled, multicenter, polysomnographic study of gabapentin in transient insomnia induced by sleep phase advance. *J Clin Sleep Med* 2014;10(10):1093-1100. [PMID: 25317090] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25317090">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25317090</a>
- SAMHSA. TIP 51: substance abuse treatment: addressing the specific needs of women. 2015 Nov. <a href="https://store.samhsa.gov/product/TIP-51-Substance-Abuse-Treatment-Addressing-the-Specific-Needs-of-Women/SMA15-4426">https://store.samhsa.gov/product/TIP-51-Substance-Abuse-Treatment-Addressing-the-Specific-Needs-of-Women/SMA15-4426</a> [accessed 2023 Jul 18]
- SAMHSA. 2021 National Survey of Drug Use and Health (NSDUH) releases. 2023 Apr.

  <a href="https://www.samhsa.gov/data/release/2021-national-survey-drug-use-and-health-nsduh-releases">https://www.samhsa.gov/data/release/2021-national-survey-drug-use-and-health-nsduh-releases</a> [accessed 2023 Mar 20]
- Sass H, Soyka M, Mann K, et al. Relapse prevention by acamprosate. Results from a placebo-controlled study on alcohol dependence. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 1996;53(8):673-80. [PMID: 8694680] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8694680
- Schaefer TJ, Hafner JW. Are benzodiazepines effective for alcohol withdrawal? *Ann Emerg Med* 2013;62(1):34-35. [PMID: 22542305] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22542305">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22542305</a>
- Shank RP, Maryanoff BE. Molecular pharmacodynamics, clinical therapeutics, and pharmacokinetics of topiramate. *CNS Neurosci Ther* 2008;14(2):120-42. [PMID: 18482025] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18482025
- Sinclair JM, Chambers SE, Shiles CJ, et al. Safety and tolerability of pharmacological treatment of alcohol dependence: comprehensive review of evidence. *Drug Saf* 2016;39(7):627-45. [PMID: 27023898] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27023898
- Skinner MD, Lahmek P, Pham H, et al. Disulfiram efficacy in the treatment of alcohol dependence: a meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 2014;9(2):e87366. [PMID: 24520330] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24520330">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24520330</a>
- Smedslund G, Berg RC, Hammerstrøm KT, et al. Motivational interviewing for substance abuse. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2011;(5):CD008063. [PMID: 21563163] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21563163">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21563163</a>
- Smith RV, Havens JR, Walsh SL. Gabapentin misuse, abuse and diversion: a systematic review. *Addiction* 2016;111(7):1160-74. [PMID: 27265421] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27265421">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27265421</a>
- Spitzer KW, Skolnick RL, Peercy BE, et al. Facilitation of intracellular H(+) ion mobility by CO(2)/HCO(3)(-) in rabbit ventricular myocytes is regulated by carbonic anhydrase. *J Physiol* 2002;541(Pt 1):159-67. [PMID: 12015427] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12015427
- Srisurapanont M, Jarusuraisin N. Naltrexone for the treatment of alcoholism: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* 2005;8(2):267-80. [PMID: 15850502] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15850502">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15850502</a>
- Stecker T, McGovern MP, Herr B. An intervention to increase alcohol treatment engagement: a pilot trial. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2012;43(2):161-67. [PMID: 22138200] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22138200
- Sullivan JT, Sykora K, Schneiderman J, et al. Assessment of alcohol withdrawal: the revised Clinical Institute Withdrawal Assessment for alcohol scale (CIWA-Ar). *Br J Addict* 1989;84(11):1353-57. [PMID: 2597811] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/2597811">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/2597811</a>
- Swietach P, Zaniboni M, Stewart AK, et al. Modelling intracellular H(+) ion diffusion. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol* 2003;83(2):69-100. [PMID: 12865074] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12865074
- Taylor B, Irving HM, Kanteres F, et al. The more you drink, the harder you fall: a systematic review and meta-analysis of how acute alcohol consumption and injury or collision risk increase together. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2010;110(1-2):108-16. [PMID: 20236774] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20236774">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20236774</a>
- Taylor B, Rehm J. The relationship between alcohol consumption and fatal motor vehicle injury: high risk at low alcohol levels. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2012;36(10):1827-34. [PMID: 22563862] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22563862



- Tempesta E, Janiri L, Bignamini A, et al. Acamprosate and relapse prevention in the treatment of alcohol dependence: a placebo-controlled study. *Alcohol Alcohol* 2000;35(2):202-9. [PMID: 10787398] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10787398
- Turncliff RZ, Dunbar JL, Dong Q, et al. Pharmacokinetics of long-acting naltrexone in subjects with mild to moderate hepatic impairment. *J Clin Pharmacol* 2005;45(11):1259-67. [PMID: 16239359] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16239359
- VanBuskirk KA, Wetherell JL. Motivational interviewing with primary care populations: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Behav Med* 2014;37(4):768-80. [PMID: 23934180] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23934180
- Vannier AGL, Shay JES, Fomin V, et al. Incidence and progression of alcohol-associated liver disease after medical therapy for alcohol use disorder. *JAMA Netw Open* 2022;5(5):e2213014. [PMID: 35594048] <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35594048">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35594048</a>
- Welch BJ, Graybeal D, Moe OW, et al. Biochemical and stone-risk profiles with topiramate treatment. *Am J Kidney Dis* 2006;48(4):555-63. [PMID: 16997051] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16997051
- White AM, Castle IP, Hingson RW, et al. Using death certificates to explore changes in alcohol-related mortality in the United States, 1999 to 2017. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2020;44(1):178-87. [PMID: 31912524] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31912524
- Whitworth AB, Fischer F, Lesch OM, et al. Comparison of acamprosate and placebo in long-term treatment of alcohol dependence. *Lancet* 1996;347(9013):1438-42. [PMID: 8676626] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8676626
- Witkiewitz K, Kranzler HR, Hallgren KA, et al. Stability of drinking reductions and long-term functioning among patients with alcohol use disorder. *J Gen Intern Med* 2021;36(2):404-12. [PMID: 33180306] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33180306
- Wood E, Albarqouni L, Tkachuk S, et al. Will this hospitalized patient develop severe alcohol withdrawal syndrome?: the rational clinical examination systematic review. *JAMA* 2018;320(8):825-33. [PMID: 30167704] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30167704
- Yeo YH, He X, Ting PS, et al. Evaluation of trends in alcohol use disorder-related mortality in the US before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. *JAMA Netw Open* 2022;5(5):e2210259. [PMID: 35507347] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35507347
- You CW, Chen YC, Chen CH, et al. Smartphone-based support system (SoberDiary) coupled with a Bluetooth breathalyser for treatment-seeking alcohol-dependent patients. *Addict Behav* 2017;65:174-78. [PMID: 27816043] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27816043



# Supplement: Guideline Development and Recommendation Ratings

Developer	New York State Department of Health AIDS Institute (NYSDOH AI) Clinical Guidelines Program	
Funding source	NYSDOH AI	
Program manager	Clinical Guidelines Program, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Division of Infectious Diseases. See <a href="Program Leadership and Staff">Program Leadership and Staff</a> .	
Mission	To produce and disseminate evidence-based, state-of-the-art clinical practice guidelines that establish uniform standards of care for practitioners who provide prevention or treatment of HIV, viral hepatitis, other sexually transmitted infections, and substance use disorders for adults throughout New York State in the wide array of settings in which those services are delivered.	
Expert committees	The NYSDOH AI Medical Director invites and appoints committees of clinical and public health experts from throughout New York State to ensure that the guidelines are practical, immediately applicable, and meet the needs of care providers and stakeholders in all major regions of New York State, all relevant clinical practice settings, key New York State agencies, and community service organizations.	
Committee structure	<ul> <li>Leadership: Al-appointed chair, vice chair(s), chair emeritus, clinical specialist(s), JHU Guidelines Program Director, Al Medical Director, Al Clinical Consultant, AVAC community advisor</li> </ul>	
	Contributing members	
	Guideline writing groups: Lead author, coauthors if applicable, and all committee leaders	
Disclosure and management of conflicts of interest	<ul> <li>Annual disclosure of financial relationships with commercial entities for the 12 months prior and upcoming is required of all individuals who work with the guidelines program, and include disclosure for partners or spouses and primary professional affiliation.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>The NYSDOH AI assesses all reported financial relationships to determine the potential for undue influence on guideline recommendations and, when indicated, denies participation in the program or formulates a plan to manage potential conflicts. Disclosures are listed for each committee member.</li> </ul>	
Evidence collection and review	<ul> <li>Literature search and review strategy is defined by the guideline lead author based on the defined scope of a new guideline or update.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>A comprehensive literature search and review is conducted for a new guideline or an extensive update using PubMed, other pertinent databases of peer-reviewed literature, and relevant conference abstracts to establish the evidence base for guideline recommendations.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>A targeted search and review to identify recently published evidence is conducted for guidelines published within the previous 3 years.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Title, abstract, and article reviews are performed by the lead author. The JHU editorial team collates evidence and creates and maintains an evidence table for each guideline.</li> </ul>	
Recommendation development	<ul> <li>The lead author drafts recommendations to address the defined scope of the guideline based on available published data.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Writing group members review the draft recommendations and evidence and deliberate to revise, refine, and reach consensus on all recommendations.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>When published data are not available, support for a recommendation may be based on the committee's expert opinion.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>The writing group assigns a 2-part rating to each recommendation to indicate the strength of the recommendation and quality of the supporting evidence. The group reviews the evidence, deliberates, and may revise recommendations when required to reach consensus.</li> </ul>	



Table S1: Guideline Development: New York State Department of Health AIDS Institute Clinical Guidelines Program	
Review and approval process	<ul> <li>Following writing group approval, draft guidelines are reviewed by all contributors, program liaisons, and a volunteer reviewer from the AI Community Advisory Committee.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Recommendations must be approved by two-thirds of the full committee. If necessary to achieve consensus, the full committee is invited to deliberate, review the evidence, and revise recommendations.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Final approval by the committee chair and the NYSDOH AI Medical Director is required for publication.</li> </ul>
External reviews	External review of each guideline is invited at the developer's discretion.
	<ul> <li>External reviewers recognized for their experience and expertise review guidelines for accuracy, balance, clarity, and practicality and provide feedback.</li> </ul>
Update process	<ul> <li>JHU editorial staff ensure that each guideline is reviewed and determined to be current upon the 3-year anniversary of publication; guidelines that provide clinical recommendations in rapidly changing areas of practice may be reviewed annually. Published literature is surveilled to identify new evidence that may prompt changes to existing recommendations or development of new recommendations.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>If changes in the standard of care, newly published studies, new drug approval, new drug- related warning, or a public health emergency indicate the need for immediate change to published guidelines, committee leadership will make recommendations and immediate updates and will invite full committee review as indicated.</li> </ul>

Table S2: Recommendation Ratings and Definitions			
Strength	Quali	Quality of Evidence	
A: Strong B: Moderate	1	Based on published results of at least 1 randomized clinical trial with clinical outcomes or validated laboratory endpoints.	
C: Optional	*	Based on either a self-evident conclusion; conclusive, published, in vitro data; or wellestablished practice that cannot be tested because ethics would preclude a clinical trial.	
	2	Based on published results of at least 1 well-designed, nonrandomized clinical trial or observational cohort study with long-term clinical outcomes.	
	2†	Extrapolated from published results of well-designed studies (including nonrandomized clinical trials) conducted in populations other than those specifically addressed by a recommendation. The source(s) of the extrapolated evidence and the rationale for the extrapolation are provided in the guideline text. One example would be results of studies conducted predominantly in a subpopulation (e.g., one gender) that the committee determines to be generalizable to the population under consideration in the guideline.	
	3	Based on committee expert opinion, with rationale provided in the guideline text.	